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William Howard Taft National Historic Site is located at 2038 Auburn Avenue in
the former suburb of Mt. Auburn in Cincinnati, Ohio. Mt Auburn was platted as a town

in 1837. Within easy reach of downtown, Cincinnati's first suburb became an ideal
location for middle and upper class homes. By 1849, Mt. Auburn had been ennexed to the
city, and fashionable "Auburn Street" became known as the "Fifth Avenue" of Cincinnati.
Among the old homes that reflect the elegant era is the Alphonso Taft home, birthplace

of President William Howard Taft.

The Taft property historically included the main house, a garden and orchard, and
several dependencies such as a barn and stable. The original house was a two-story
brick structure approximstely 39 feet by 21 feet with a full basement. It faced
west toward Auburn Avenue. Judging from structural and stylistic trends, the
building appears to have been constructed in the early 1840s. In 1851, Alphonso Taft,
the father of William Howard Taft, purchased the property and added a 40-by-22-foot
wing on the east. This addition also contains two stories and a full basement.
Because the Tafts were in a relatively wealthy position, they undertook a host of
alterations to the house throughout their occupancy. Although none can be singled
out as particularly important, it should be noted that during their ownership the
heating, plumbing, and lighting systems were completely replaced.

The entire building was constructed of bricks on a rubble limestone. foundsation.
The walls in the lower two stories of the rear addition and the first story of the
original structure are three wythes thick and the upper story is two wythes thick.
The coursing is American Bond with one course of headers to each seven courses of
stretchers. The bricks are set in a lime mortar.

Because of inefficiencies during the original construction and neglect during later
years, several major structural problems have arisen within the rear addition. Some
of the trouble appears to be related foundation problems. Over the years, the rear
addition has gradually shifted. This movement is reflected in the extensive cracks
in the masonry walls. Because some problems have developed from rising damp the
primary problem appears to be the action of highly expansive clays setting up
vertical movements. The moisture problem was temporarily solved when the rear
portion of the house was covered with plywood in 19T4. At this time, problems

with the original house were also remedied. To reinforce areas weakened by
deteriorated mortar, a subterranean retaining wall was constructed encasing the
foundation of the pre-~1851 structure.

During the period 1851 to 1877, before a fire destroyed a portion of the second
floor on April k4, 1877, the house was basically Italianate in style. After the
fire of 1877, the ceiling of the upper floor was raised and pressed metal details
were added to the exterior. Although there was no change in actual square footage,
the renovation was much more extensive than was required for necessary repairs.
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-William Howard Taft National Historic Site, designated on December 2, 1969, preserves

~the birthplace and boyhood home of the 2Tth President of the United States. The house,
an example of Italianate architecture, included within the Mount Auburn historic
district, saw the birth of Taft on September 15, 1857 and witnessed his growth into
manhood. Taft's assocliation with the house ended, except for visits in later years,
with his matriculation at Yale University in 18TL. This house is the only structure
surviving which is associated with Taft and his family.

The Taft family has had a significant role in the history of our nation for almost

-one hundred years. Alphonso Taft, the only child of Peter Rawson and Sylvia Howard

Taft, after a distinguished career as a Cincinnati lawyer and a member of the Ohio

“Judicary served in President Ulysses S. Grant's cebinet and as minister to several

European powers. One of his sons, William Howard Taft, was elected President of the
“United States and served as Chief Justice of the Supreme Court from 1921 until 1930.

He is the only man:to head two of the three branches of our government., Horace Dutton

Taft, another son, founded the Taft School. Robert Alphonso Taft, the President's son,

was the Republican leader in the Senate from 1939 until his death in 1953. Mr. Republican's

son, Robert A. Taft, Jr., is currently serving the people of Ohio as their Junior
United States Senator.
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A second major alteration took place in 1964, when an attempt was made to restore
the exterior of the house to its pre-18T7 appearance. The existing condition of
the building reflects this restoration. At present, the only variance from the
overall exterior dimensions of the historic period is the addition of a two-story
octagonal bay, approximately 6 feet by 22 feet, to the south exterior wall of the
rear wing, replacing the two-story piazza along the adjacent wall. The original
part of the structure contains none of the original windows and a large number of
the interior openings and partitions have also been altered. In the addition,
many of the original architectural details such as door architraves remain, but
these features have been reused extensively. Consequently, the interior febric
fo the house reflects the period after 1877 more than it does the earlier period.

A situation which further contributes to the problem of interpreting the original
interior architectural detailing arose during the time (1940-1961) when the house
was used as apartments. During this period many more partitions were added, openings
were changed, walls were closed up, and the entire surface of the second floor and

- much of the first was covered with hardwood flooring.

The setting of the Taft Home has been altered considerably since the period of
greatest historical significance. In land transfers since the historic period, the
property size has been reduced from the original 1.82 acres to the present 0.5 acre.
Frontage on Auburn Avenue has remained the same (100.00 feet), but the east-west
depth of the lot has been cut to 220.00 feet. The house has been isolated by the
destruction of neighboring houses on either side. The Mt. Auburn area as a whole,
however, retains its essential character as a 19th century neighborhood, and is
witnessing a revitalization largely shown by the rehsbilitation of many fine old
homes. The Mt. Auburn Historic Dlstrlct, surrounding the Taft property, is listed
1n the National Register.

- The property is fronted on Auburn Avenue by~a sidewalk restored in 19TL-T75 with
brick paving approx1mately 12 feet in width with granite curbing. The front wall
of limestone blocks with sandstone coping about four foot in height was dismantled,

- moved west approximately 6" to the historic property line and reinforced in 19T4-T75.
The decorative iron fence atop the wall along its entire length has also been
repaired and set in place. The carriage entrance was reduced to its historic
dimensions and restored. The present width between the piers is 10 and one-half
-feet. - The central entrancewsy, openlng onto the sidewalk which leads to the front
porch, is in place.

With the exception of the steps at the front entrance, the concrete walkways and

stairs on the grounds are not historic. These modern features, are, for the most

part, in the same locations as the historic stairs and walks. The only significant
departure from the historic pattern is the addition of a walk aroumd the northeast

side of the house. During the historic period, it is likely that all walks, including
the front sidewalk along Auburn Avenue, were of unmortared, herringbone-patterned brick.

(See continuation sheet, page 3)
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The form, if not the surface and gradient of the carriageway drive, is fairly well
preserved, paralleling the north property line and departing the large carriageway
entrance. This thirteen-foot wide drive leading to the back of the property has
been the object of application of various types of surface treatment, all of it

in poor condition, and slopes rather sherply downward toward the back of the
property. This dfive gives way to modern fill approximately 50 feet east of the
carriageway entrance, which covers the historic rear topography and traces of
historic features. The depth of this fill is approximately 12 feet.

The marked downward slope of the property from west to east is not nearly so great
as in historic times, due to the addition of fill on the back lot. Historically,
this downward slope continued eastward along the entire strip of original property.

The east boundary of the reduced property is marked by a "Cyclone" fence erected

by the county, except the northeast corner where a short length of iron fencing

is cemented atop a retaining wall. To the east of the line lies the macadam

Juvenile court parking lot, and further back is the northern end of the juvenile
building and its lawn, also encroaching on the historic eastern extension of the
Alphonso Taft property. Because of the loss of integrity this portion of the
original Taft ownership is not included in the nomination. It.is acceptably screened
from the house by vegetation along the fence.

Tracing the approximate north boundary line of the property is an old stone retaining
wall which reaches a height of approximately ten feet at the northeast corner. This
was built, or at least altered, on numerous occasions by Alphonso Taft and served

to keep unstable deposits under the Taft carrisgeway, carriage house and back lot
from slumping northward and northeastward into a large rectangular depression which
pertained to adjoining properties. The wall is presently discontinuous and somewhat
erratic in orientation, in places standing as far as four feet outside the surveyed
property line.

Historically derived vegetation on the property can be readily identified. Two
large horse chestnut trees flank the east-west sidewalk on the front lawn, and a
smaller oak tree stands off the southwest corner of the house. White and purple
honeysuckle grows beside and just south of the carriage drive inside the carriageway
entrance. A large pear tree to the north of the front portion of the home may well
be historic. Banks of feral grapes grow in unkept vegetation along the entire north
property line, A large catalpa tree situated just off the southeast corner of the
house is of historic attribution. Large and impressive hackberry and ash trees are
spaced just inside the south property line near the back of the lot. The landscaping
on the property was rather casual reflecting the suburban atmosphere of Mt. Auburn
area at that historic period.
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The authorized boundary of William Howard Taft National Historic Site also includes
land which was not part of the original Taft property but was included for
administrative purposes. This nomination, however, includes only the immediate
setting of the house on the surviving .5 acre portion of historic Taft property.

The additional land is an adjacent .28 acre parcel that was cleared of an apartment
building which was a neighboring residence during the historic period and donated

to the National Park Service by the William Howard Taft Memorial Association, The
property has 101.35'frontage on Auburn Avenue with an east-west depth of 120.03 feet.
The land slopes from Auburn Avenue having a total drop of 20 feet in the first 100
feet. Access to this parcel is off Southern Avenue down a steep drive. Approximately
20 feet of property along the eastern end has been paved and is now used by the
residents of Southern Arms Apartments for parking. The site is composed chiefly of
rubble remaining after the demolition of the structure. This material is unsuitable
for any development without extensive construction. '

Williem Howard Taft National Historic Site depends for its integrity on the preservation
of the house and its appropriate and compatible development to interpret to the public
the significance of Taft and his family in American history. Park Service planning

for the property is not complete, however, and no decisions have been made on its

future treatment. Priority will be given to preservation countering the serious
structural problems. Otherwise, the house has in the past been adversely affected

by isolation caused by the removal of its neighbors on either side. The property
should be protected from incompatible intrusions in its immediate vicinity, and

it would be desirable that any future constructure within its view be comparable

in scale and mass to the sizable 19th century houses typical of the neighborhood.,
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Leonard, A. A., Life of Alphonso Taft, Hawke Publishing Company, 1920.

 Pringle, Henry F., The Life and Times of William Howard Taft, Connecticut, Archon
Books, 1964, Volumes I and II.
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